FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 3/19/2025 BY SARAH R. PENDLETON CLERK

Case #: 1039859

FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/19/2025 11:46 AM

No. 86281-2-I

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

MADERO CONSTRUCTION, LLC, a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

FULLWILER CONSTRUCTION, INC., a Washington corporation; 2217 NW 62ND ST, LLC, a Washington limited liability company; MERCHANTS BONDING COMPANY (MUTUAL), a surety; FIRST FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN ASSOCIATION OF PORT ANGELES, a Washington Bank Corporation; THE OHIO CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, a surety,

Petitioners.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Fullwiler Construction, Inc. ("Fullwiler") seeks review of the Court of Appeals decision set forth in Part B.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Division I filed its decision on February 24, 2025. A copy is in the Appendix.

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. While this Court has established that contributory negligence is not a bar to recovery in a negligent misrepresentation claim when the claimant's reliance on a misrepresentation was reasonable, did the trial court err in concluding a party failed to prove that reliance on a false statement was "free of negligence?"
- 2. Although a party has the burden to prove damages with admissible evidence, did the trial court err in shifting the burden to the defendant to disprove damages, and in awarding damages where no admissible evidence supported a portion of the damage award?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Division I's opinion sets forth the facts and procedure in this case, op. at 1-4, but a more robust factual discussion is merited.

This case involves the construction of six townhomes in the Ballard neighborhood of Seattle. The developer for the Ballard project was 2217 NW 62nd St. LLC. The general contractor was Fullwiler. On July 6, 2021, Fullwiler entered into a framing subcontract with Madero for the Ballard project. Ex. 109.

Madero began construction on the project under an hourly contract, undertaking work framing the townhomes, starting work on July 6, 2021; Madero was to be paid \$70.00 per hour, per worker. Ex. 109. Before this dispute arose, Fullwiler had already paid Madero \$82,619.04 for framing work completed for the Ballard project. CP 20; RP 178-79.

A dispute arose when it became clear that Madero did not complete the framing work according to the approved plans. Madero claimed that it did not understand the plans, that it asked for clarification from a temporary, onsite superintendent, and that superintendent authorized Madero complete the framing work in a way that deviated from the plans. CP 342-47 (unchallenged

findings of fact). Fullwiler disputed that it should have to pay Madero to have the framing work redone according to the approved plans or otherwise corrected when the parties' contract provided that subcontractors must perform their work "free from defects in materials or workmanship," and that "Work not conforming to these requirements, including substitutions not properly approved and authorized, may be considered defective." Ex. 109.

After Madero sued Fullwiler and its sureties, Fullwiler filed an answer and counterclaim in response to Madero's complaint, CP 57-65, claiming that Madero breached the subcontract by failing complete its framing work according to approved building plans and seeking damages incurred spent to repair and correct the faulty framing work by Madero and bring the Ballard project back into compliance with the approved building plans and the Seattle Building Code. CP 62-63, 99-106.

The subcontract required Madero to certify that it had liability insurance covering its work, and Madero certified under

penalty of perjury that it did. Ex. 109; CP 90-91. During discovery, Fullwiler asked Madero to produce that liability insurance policy. Madero produced a copy of the policy taken out before Madero started work on the Ballard townhomes. Ex. But that policy contained an endorsement excluding 137. liability coverage for any construction work Madero did on the new construction of any townhome, effectively providing no coverage for Madero's work on the project. Ex. 137. Had Fullwiler known that Madero was effectively uninsured despite the mandate of the parties' subcontract and Washington contractor law, it would have refused to allow Madero to work on the project or would have stopped work immediately. CP 338 (FF 40).

Fullwiler amended its counterclaim, adding a claim for negligent misrepresentation and requested rescission of the subcontract as a remedy. CP 63-64.

Critically, Fullwiler moved for summary judgment, arguing that Madero could not prove its damages, particularly

where its invoices to Fullwiler stood at odds with wages Madero reported to the IRS and the Department of Labor & Industries for the very same workers. CP 81-84. The trial court denied the motion, finding genuine issues of material fact. CP 303.

At trial, Madero again sought \$132,791.61 in total damages for work it allegedly performed on the project without pay, work that occurred in August/September 2021. CP 1-7. Madero allegedly billed for this work using three invoices; however, at trial, Madero only presented evidence related to the first invoice, totaling \$50,172.57 in claimed wages not paid. Ex. 10. Madero not only failed to introduce testimony about the

_

Invoice No.	Exhibit No.	Amount
896008	Ex. 10 (admitted)	\$50,172.57
896009	Ex. 11 (not admitted)	\$64,738.80
896010	Ex. 12 (not admitted)	\$17,880.24
TOTAL		\$132,791.61

other two invoices, it failed to introduced the invoices themselves and *even objected* when Fullwiler offered them as exhibits. CP 316, 352 (CL 38).² The trial court correctly observed that Madero elicited no "specific testimony" about the latter two invoices. CP 353 (CL 38).

Thus, the trial court only had a demonstrative exhibit prepared by Fullwiler as a summary, as "proof" of Madero's damages. Ex. 151. That exhibit was not admitted; Madero *also objected* to its admission at trial. CP 316. Admitting that there was no "specific testimony" about the latter two invoices and testimony about Madero's alleged damages was "scant," the trial court, nevertheless, relied on the purported damages shown in exhibit 151. CP 352 (CL 39). It concluded that Madero proved all \$132,791.61 "by a thin reed" because Marjorie Hefley, a Fullwiler employee, testified generally about exhibit 151, even

² Madero's actions persisted on appeal. When the trial court clerk did not retain the two exhibits not admitted at trial, Madero opposed Fullwiler's motion to make them part of the appellate record.

though her testimony did not address invoices 896009 and 896010, exhibits 11 and 12. CP 353 (CL 40, 42). Given these evidentiary deficiencies, Madero failed to prove with substantial evidence \$82,619.04 of \$132,791.61 of its claimed damages (62 percent), that were awarded by the trial court.

The trial court also found that although Fullwiler proved four of the six elements of its negligent misrepresentation claim because Madero made a plainly false statement on which Fullwiler relied – that Madero had actual liability insurance for the project – the claim failed because Fullwiler's reliance was not reasonable. CP 349-51. The trial court held Fullwiler did not act reasonably because it was partially negligent and could have done more to confirm that Madero had sufficient insurance as required by the parties' contract. *Id*.

The court believed Fullwiler should not have relied on the information provided by Madero *under penalty of perjury*; CP 335 (FF 26), because: (1) Fullwiler did not *also* secure a certificate of insurance from Madero showing the liability

insurance Madero was carrying for the Ballard project; and/or (2) Fullwiler did not buy on its own alternative liability coverage on behalf of Madero, which the parties' contract allowed it to do. CP 349-51.

In a ruling that contradicts this Court's established precedent, the court held that Fullwiler's reliance had to be "free of negligence" and Fullwiler could have done more to investigate Madero's insurance coverage. CP 351 (CL 35). Because it concluded the fifth element of negligent misrepresentation was not satisfied, the court did not make findings on the sixth element of a negligent misrepresentation claim, damages, nor did it address Fullwiler's remedy. CP 351 (CL 36).

Division I upheld the trial court's rulings in a decision meriting this Court's review. RAP 13.4(b).

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

(1) <u>Division I Upheld the Trial Court Legal Error in Applying the Incorrect Law on Negligent Misrepresentation</u>

Division I's decision on the reliance element of a negligent

misrepresentation misapplies this Court's law and upholds the trial court decision that Fullwiler's claim failed because it believed Fullwiler had to be "free of negligence" in relying on Madero's misrepresentations. CP 351 (CL 35). This Court should grant review. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

To prevail on a claim for negligent misrepresentation, Fullwiler had to prove six elements of the tort by clear and convincing evidence. *Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v. Baik*, 147 Wn.2d 536, 55 P.3d 619 (2002). The trial court correctly articulated these elements and properly found that Fullwiler met the first four elements by clear and convincing evidence. CP 348 (CL 22-29).

Madero supplied false information that it maintained actual liability insurance that covered the Ballard project. CP 349 (CL 27). This is important because in order to do business as a licensed contractor in Washington, Madero was required to maintain general liability insurance at all times to retain its general contractor's license. RCW 18.27.050(1), (2); CP 338

(FF 39).

Madero also knew or should have known that the false information would have affected Fullwiler's decision on Madero's subcontract. CP 349 (CL 27). "Fullwiler Construction would not have entered into a framing subcontract with Madero if Madero did not possess liability insurance covering the Ballard project, and that he would have stopped work if he later learned of any missing required insurance until the coverage issue could be corrected." CP 338 (FF 40).

Madero was negligent in obtaining or communicating the false information. CP 349 (CL 28). Madero should have investigated the contents of its own liability insurance policy with its relevant exclusions before communicating the policy contents to others who foreseeably would rely on those representations. *Id*.

Fullwiler relied on the false information. CP 349 (CL 29). Framing is hazardous work, and there are obvious risks that framer employees may be injured on the job. Rationally, Fulwiler

would not have run the risk of its framing subcontractor being effectively uninsured. CP 338 (FF 40).

As for element five, the trial court found that Fullwiler's claim failed because its reliance on Madero's false statement was not reasonable under the circumstances. CP 349-51 (CL 29-36). "Where the standard of proof is clear, cogent, and convincing evidence, the Court cannot find that Fullwiler Construction was free of negligence under these circumstances and that it reasonably relied on Madero' misrepresentations." CP 351 (CL 35). But that determination, condoned by Division I, was legally erroneous where this Court has expressly rejected the notion that a plaintiff seeking to prove negligent misrepresentation must be "free of negligence." *Baik*, 147 Wn.2d at 550-54.

Comparative fault in negligent misrepresentation cases has a history in this Court. There is no doubt that Washington is a comparative fault state. RCW 4.22.005. That statute does not "bar recovery" because a plaintiff is at fault.

In ESCA Corp. v. KPMG Peat Marwick, 135 Wn.2d 820,

831, 959 P.2d 651 (1998), this Court held that statute applies to negligent misrepresentation claims, but left open its application to the reliance element of the tort. The Court then resolved this question in Baik, holding that a claimant need not be "fault free" when establishing the "justifiable reliance" element of a negligent misrepresentation claim. 147 Wn.2d at 550-51. "comparative negligence applies to negligent Because misrepresentation claims, we believe that application of a contributory negligence bar to the 'justifiable reliance' element would be confusing and contradictory." *Id.* at 551.³ The Court determined that there is no "clear-cut way to distinguish between a plaintiff's reasonableness in relying on a misrepresentation and a plaintiff's culpability in causing his or her own damages." *Id*.

³ The *Baik* court specifically *rejected* the *Restatement* (*Second*) of *Torts* § 552(1) (1977), which suggests that a claimant's negligence in relying on a misrepresentation is a bar to recovery. "Our rejection of section 552A means that [a claimant] *need not have been fault-free* in its reliance on" a negligently misrepresented statement to succeed on a negligent misrepresentation claim. *Id.* at 551. (emphasis added).

Instead, "where a plaintiff *reasonably reposes* some trust in a misrepresentation and shows that that reliance proximately caused some damages, the automatic preclusion of a negligent misrepresentation claim on the grounds that the plaintiff could have done something more" will not bar recovery. *Id*.

Division I's opinion simply reintroduces the "confusing and contradictory" analysis of this element of the tort rejected by the *Baik* court. Review and reversal are necessary to correct this conflict. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

It did not matter that Fullwiler failed to "do something more" beyond what it actually did – relying on the sworn statement of a licensed contractor, in determining whether Madero possessed insurance applicable to its work on the Ballard project. Yet this was precisely what Division I did in upholding the trial court's decision. CP 350-51 (CL 31-36). It decided that Fullwiler's failure to take *additional* steps to confirm the accuracy of Madero's representations about insurance coverage defeated Fullwiler's claim that it justifiably relied on Madero's

false representation regarding its insurance coverage. Op. at 9-14.

The trial court cited *Ross v. Kirner*, 162 Wn.2d 493, 500, 172 P.3d 701 (2007), for the proposition that Fullwiler must not have been negligent in relying on Madero's representation regarding insurance, a decision Division I approved. Op. at 9.⁴ Although the *Ross* opinion says that in passing when laying out the purported elements of a negligent misrepresentation claim, 162 Wn.2d at 500, it is *dicta*, not the Court's holding. The issue in that case was not whether negligent reliance barred a claim,

⁴ Not noted by Division I's opinion, the trial court also relied on *Condor Enterprises, Inc. v. Boise Cascade Corp.*, 71 Wn. App. 48, 856 P.2d 713 (1993), CP 349-50 (CL 30), a case where Division II applied the *Restatement* standard later rejected in *Baik*, holding that contributory negligence by a plaintiff bars recovery in an action for negligent misrepresentation. *Id.* at 52. The *Condor* court did not address whether Washington's then newly adopted comparative fault principles codified at RCW 4.22.005 and .015 applied, apparently because neither party argued that principles of comparative fault applied in that case. *Id.* at 52 n.1. *Condor*'s holding was rejected by this Court's *ESCA* and *Baik* decisions that comparative fault principles apply to negligent misrepresentation claims, including the reasonable reliance element, effectively overruling *Condor*.

but whether the Court of Appeals properly concluded that negligent misrepresentation occurred as a matter of law.

The *Ross* decision itself first cited *Baik*, in setting out the six distinct elements necessary to establish a negligent misrepresentation claim. 162 Wn.2d at 499. As noted above, the *Baik* court expressly rejected adopting *Restatement* and held a claimant need not be "fault free" when establishing the "justifiable reliance" element of a negligent misrepresentation claim. *Baik*, 147 Wn.2d at 550-51. Thus, a claimant can be somewhat negligent in relying on a misrepresentation, and that negligence will not bar recovery but merely factor into a claimant's damages.

Simply put, the *dicta* in *Ross* does not overrule *Baik*, where the Court expressly rejected adopting the *Restatement* and that held a claimant need not be "fault free" when establishing the "justifiable reliance" element a negligent misrepresentation claim. *Baik*, 147 Wn.2d at 550-51. As the Court held when directly addressing the issue in that case and *ESCA*, the issue of

comparative fault by a plaintiff in relying on a misrepresentation goes to the issue of damages, not justifiable reliance. *ESCA*, 135 Wn.2d at 827.

Division I applied the wrong legal standard, a standard this Court rejected in *Baik*. The issue of whether comparative fault applies to the reliance element of negligent misrepresentation persists, as Division I's opinion attests. Review is merited. RAP 13.4(b)(1).

Although the legal error above requires reversal, Division I also upheld the trial court's findings on justifiable reliance that are not supported by substantial evidence, op. at 12-14, compounding its legal error where the findings are contradicted by uncontested facts.

The trial court concluded that Madero met its obligation to Fullwiler to *carry liability insurance* by possessing general liability insurance, regardless of whether that insurance *actually covered* the work Madero was hired to do. The trial court held that Fullwiler's reliance on Madero's false representations that it

possessed liability insurance that *actually covered* the Ballard project was not justified because Fullwiler did not ask for, or review, Madero's certificate of insurance for the Ballard project. But Fullwiler did not have to do so. Madero swore under penalty of perjury that it provided actual insurance coverage.

Nothing contained in a certificate of insurance (Ex. 164) would have alerted Fullwiler to the presence of the "newly built construction" exclusion contained in Madero's liability insurance policy that effectively negated any insurance coverage for Madero's work on the Ballard project, making the cost of "coverage" cheaper for Madero. A certificate would merely have confirmed that Madero *carried* liability insurance as called for in the framing subcontract. RP 117-18. Normally, that would be enough, but here it was not because of the coverage-defeating policy exclusion that made coverage cheaper for Madero.

Likewise, the trial court held Fullwiler's reliance on Madero's false information about insurance was not justifiable, despite Madero's certification under penalty of perjury it had Fullwiler could have purchased liability insurance for Madero and billed that cost back to Madero. Again, the court barred recovery to Fullwiler for not doing "something more" than requiring a sworn statement from its framing subcontractor partner, a licensed contractor with a legal obligation to have actual insurance coverage for its work. RCW 18.27.050(1), (2).

In essence, the trial court determined that Fullwiler possessed some sort of duty – be it contractual or at common law – to take the additional step during the contract formation process or construction of the Ballard project to review Madero's actual liability insurance policy to ensure it actually provided insurance coverage applicable to the Ballard project. Neither the trial court, nor Division I, ever identified the basis for this implied duty to review Madero's *actual liability insurance coverage*. There is no such duty.

The trial court's conflation of carrying liability insurance, in general, as being the same as possessing liability coverage that

actually covered the work Madero had been contracted to do on the Ballard project is commercially unreasonable. *Wilson Ct. P'ship v. Tony Maroni's*, 134 Wn.2d, 692, 705, 952 P.2d 590 (1998) (business contracts must be given a "commercially reasonable" reading). The parties' contract stressed the need for actual insurance coverage – it is obviously paramount when undertaking construction work that can risk serious injury and other liability exposure – and Madero falsely certified that it was covered. Fullwiler was not negligent for relying on Madero's certification and assuming a licensed contractor had the business sense to understand what it was certifying.

At no point in the contract formation process, the construction of the Ballard project, or any time prior to Madero filing this lawsuit did Fullwiler know, have reason to know or possess the ability to discover the "newly built construction" exclusion contained in Madero's liability insurance policy that negated any insurance coverage for the Ballard project. The "false information" that is central to proving negligent

misrepresentation in this lawsuit is the *exclusion* contained in Madero's liability *policy* that no amount of due diligence during the contract formation process or construction of the Ballard project could have been discovered by Fullwiler.

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