FILED  
SUPREME COURT  
STATE OF WASHINGTON  
4/18/2025 2:45 PM  
BY SARAH R. PENDLETON  
CLERK

No. 1039859

---

**SUPREME COURT  
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

---

MADERO CONSTRUCTION, LLC,  
a Washington limited liability company,

Respondent,

v.

FULLWILER CONSTRUCTION, INC.,  
A Washington corporation; 2217 NW 62<sup>nd</sup> ST, a Washington limited  
liability company; MERCHANTS BONDING COMPANY  
(MUTUAL), a surety; FIRST FEDERAL SAVINGS & LOAN  
ASSOCIATION OF PORT ANGELES, a Washington Bank  
Corporation; THE OHIO CASUALTY INSURANCE COMPANY, a  
surety,

Appellants.

---

**ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW  
MADERO CONSTRUCTION, LLC**

---

James J. Dore  
WSBA # 22106

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

## **C. ARGUMENT**

### **1. The Law Regarding Negligent Misrepresentation was Properly Applied.**

To sustain a claim for negligent misrepresentation, a claimant must prove by clear cogent and convincing evidence each of the following six elements:

(1) the defendant supplied information for the guidance of others in their business transactions that was false, (2) the defendant knew or should have known that the information was supplied to guide the plaintiff in his business transactions, (3) the defendant was negligent in obtaining or communicating the false information, (4) the plaintiff relied on the false information, (5) the plaintiff's reliance was reasonable, and (6) the false information proximately caused the plaintiff damages.

Ross v. Kirner, 162 Wash. 2d 493, 499, 172 P.3d 701, 704

(2007); *see also* CP 348.

In addition, a claimant must not have been negligent in relying on the representation. *Id.* at 500. It is a question of fact whether a claimant's reliance on the representations was reasonable under the circumstances. Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v. Baik, 147 Wn.2d 536, 552, 55 P.3d 619 (2002).

After a bench trial, the court found Fullwiler's reliance on the false information was not reasonable under the circumstances. (CP 348, 349). The trial court's findings of fact, and the trial record, support the trial court's conclusions.

Where the standard of proof is clear, cogent, and convincing evidence, the Court cannot find that Fullwiler Construction was free of negligence under these circumstances and that it reasonably relied on Madero's misrepresentation.  
(CP 351).

On review, the Court of Appeals found this to be a proper application of the negligent misrepresentation standards. (Opinion at \*4 and \*5). The Court of Appeals went on to explain that reasonable reliance remained a standard for negligent misrepresentation claims and that comparative fault principles only came into play *after* reasonable reliance was established. *Id.* That is also not a misstatement of negligent misrepresentation claims.

That the Court of Appeals' decision is correct is shown by its own analysis and a review of cases leading up to the

application of comparative fault to negligent misrepresentation claims.

The current status of negligent misrepresentation law, was developed by three cases: ESCA Corp. v. KPMG Peat Marwick, 135 Wn.2d 820, 959 P.2d 651 (1998); Lawyers Title Ins. Corp. v. Baik, 147, 536, 55 P.3d 619 (2002); and Ross v. Kirner, 162 Wn.2d 493, 172 P.3d 701 (2007).

In ESCA the issue was whether the comparative fault statute, RCW 4.22.005,<sup>2</sup> applied to negligent misrepresentation claims, and whether a jury instruction based on the *Restatement (Second) of Torts § 552A (1977)* was proper. *Id.* at 826-27.

ESCA held the comparative fault statute applies to negligent misrepresentation claims. *Id.* at 830. The requirement that a plaintiff must reasonably rely on a misrepresentation remained part of the necessary proof of claim.

---

<sup>2</sup> Text of RCW 4.22.005 set forth in full in Appendix.

Rather than allow an instruction based on the *Restatement*, the trial court had entered an instruction that stated in part:

(5) That Seafirst's reliance on the false information supplied by KPMG was justified (that is, that reliance was reasonable under the surrounding circumstances);

*Id.* at 828.

In upholding the instruction requiring reasonable reliance on false information, this Court stated:

We hold the trial court properly instructed the jury, and did not err in denying KPMG's proposed instruction. In this case, the instructions given by the trial judge required Seafirst to prove that its "reliance on the false information supplied by KPMG was justified (*that is, that reliance was reasonable under the surrounding circumstances*) ... by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence." *Negligence is the failure to act reasonably under the circumstances. Whether a party justifiably relied upon a misrepresentation is an issue of fact.*

*Id.* at 828. (Internal citations omitted, emphasis added).

The ESCA jury found Seafirst was 60 percent negligent in relying on the misinformation. KPMG argued that must mean the reliance was not justified.

The Court disagreed because the jury had made a finding Seafirst's behavior was "reasonable under the circumstances".

In explanation this Court stated:

KPMG confuses the issues of justifiable reliance (the right to recover) with the damage (the proper amount of recovery)

*Id.* at 829.

ESCA established three elements that apply to negligent misrepresentation claims.

1) Comparative fault will be applied to damage determinations.

2) There are two separate stages to establish a claim for negligent misrepresentation. The first is justifiable or reasonable reliance which establishes whether there is a *right* to recover. With regard to the *right* to recover, "negligence is the failure to act reasonably under the circumstances". Therefore, if a plaintiff does not prove reasonable reliance on the representation under the circumstances of the case, that is negligence by definition. The claim fails.

If a right to recover is established, the second stage of the tort deals with proximate cause and damages. That is where comparative fault principles apply, but only after the right to recover has been established.

3) Justifiable reliance is a question of fact.

In Lawyers Title Ins. Corp v. Baik, 147 Wn.2d 536, 55 P.3d 619 (2002), the Court specifically rejected *Restatement § 552A* and its applicability to negligent misrepresentation claims. Baik at 551.

The Baik court, however, *retained all other aspects of proving a negligent misrepresentation claim set forth in ESCA.*

Baik recognized the confusion that could ensue if it simply held comparative fault applied to negligent misrepresentation claims generally, thus leading people to believe comparative negligence might also apply to establishing justifiable reliance.

The Court did not intend that result. The holding specifically reiterates the need to prove the *right* to recover

remains the same as set forth in ESCA. The right to recover must be established before moving to damage calculations.

The opinion noted that applying contributory negligence to the question of the *right* to recover (justifiable reliance) would be unnecessarily confusing. Therefore, the Court made clear the need to follow a two-step process.

In light of our holding that comparative negligence applies to negligent misrepresentation claims, we believe that application of a contributory negligence bar to the “justifiable reliance” element would be confusing and contradictory. As we held in ESCA, “justifiable reliance” is properly defined for the jury as “ ‘reliance [that] was reasonable under the surrounding circumstances.’ ” Id. at 828, 959 P.2d 651 (quoting CP at 1359 (Jury Instruction 17)). We see no clear-cut way to distinguish between a plaintiff’s reasonableness in relying on a misrepresentation and a plaintiff’s culpability in causing his or her own damages.

Baik at 551. (Emphasis added, footnote deleted).

Under Baik, a plaintiff may not need to be “fault free” in relying on a representation, however that reliance cannot cross the line such that a finder of fact deems it was not reasonable under all the circumstance of the case. Thus, if a plaintiff

proves reasonable reliance, i.e. non-negligence by definition, and thereby earns the right to recover, they can move on to the next phases of the tort, proximate cause and damages. At that point, even if a plaintiff's actions are negligent in some manner, comparative fault principles will be applied to damage calculations and some recovery can be allowed.

We believe that, where a plaintiff reasonably reposes some trust in a misrepresentation and shows that that reliance proximately caused some damages, the automatic preclusion of a negligent misrepresentation claim on the grounds that the plaintiff could have done something more would be the sort of “harsh result” that the comparative fault statute sought to forestall in tort claims. *Id.* at 830, 959 P.2d 651. Thus, we hereby reject the applicability of section 552A to negligent misrepresentation claims and reaffirm our determinations in ESCA that reliance is justifiable if it is reasonable under the circumstances and that negligent misrepresentation defendants are not entitled to a jury instruction based on section 552A. *Id.* at 828, 959 P.2d 651.

Baik, at 551. (Emphasis added).

The “harsh result” to be forestalled applies *only after a plaintiff shows reliance on the misrepresentation was reasonable, i.e., not negligent*. At that point recovery will not

be completely barred but will be decided under comparative fault standards.<sup>3</sup>

The final case in the trilogy, and one cited by the trial court, is Ross v. Kirner, 162 Wn.2d 493 (2007). There, a decision was disapproved because it was based on outdated case law. Ross at 499.

This Court went on to note the elements of a negligent misrepresentation claim, citing its decision in Baik remained extant. Ross at 499.

It then reiterated its position that to prove the right to recover “the plaintiff *must not have been negligent in relying on the representation.*” Ross at 500, citing to ESCA, *supra*. (Emphasis added. *See also* CP 349, 351).

Fullwiler’s argument the statement is simply “dicta” is not persuasive. It is a reiteration by this Court that element 5 of

---

<sup>3</sup> The Court of Appeals’ decision follows this approach. \*4 and \*5 of that opinion.

a negligent misrepresentation claim still needs to be proven even under comparative fault principles.

The section of ESCA referenced by Ross states:

*A plaintiff must prove he or she justifiably relied upon the information negligently supplied by the defendant.*

ESCA Corp. v. KPMG Peat Marwick, 135 Wash. 2d 820, 826, 959 P.2d 651, 654 (1998). (Emphasis added).

The impact of the Court's cite to ESCA in Ross is that even though the *Restatement's* bar to recovery based on comparative negligence no longer prevents damage calculations and recovery after the right to recovery is established, negligence of a plaintiff remains an aspect of a negligent misrepresentation claim *when a plaintiff does not reasonably rely on a misrepresentation.*

Fullwiler's argument that a plaintiff need not be "negligence free" is incorrect insofar as reasonable reliance on a negligent misrepresentation is concerned. What the trial court found as a matter of fact and was supported by the Court of Appeals in this case was, Fullwiler did not, under the totality of

the circumstances, reasonably rely on the negligent misrepresentation. Any plaintiff that fails to prove reasonable reliance could claim they were required to “do something more”, when in fact, they are only required to prove their reliance was reasonable.

Fullwiler’s analysis is not correct, because if it were, there would no longer be a 5<sup>th</sup> element of proof for a negligent misrepresentation claim. That is not what this Court held in Baik. The 5<sup>th</sup> element remains a necessary component of a negligent misrepresentation claim.

In the instant case, the trial court properly conducted the two-part analysis established by Baik.

First, the trial court recognized the need to find reasonable reliance on the representation as set forth by the Supreme Court in Ross, *supra*. (Conclusion 30, CP 349-350).

It then found that after examining all the evidence presented at trial, and under the circumstances of the case, Fullwiler did not reasonably rely on the representation made by

Madero concerning liability insurance. (Conclusion 35, CP 351).

Because the facts failed to show Fullwiler proved the element of reasonable reliance, the misrepresentation claim failed. (Conclusion 36, CP 351).

Fullwiler's argument the ruling of the trial court required it to "do something more" is unpersuasive. What was required was Fullwiler had to meet the reasonable reliance standard for a negligent misrepresentation claim by clear cogent and convincing evidence. As a factual question, after a full trial, the court found Fullwiler failed to meet that burden. The trial court's determination that Fullwiler must not have been negligent in relying on the representation, quoting Ross, *supra* is a proper statement of the current law. (CP 349-350).

That the analysis set forth above is correct is recognized by the Washington Practice Series. WPI 165.01 sets forth the elements to prove a negligent misrepresentation claim.<sup>4</sup>

In that instruction, the fifth element of a claim is a plaintiff's reliance on the false information was reasonable.

The notes for use state:

If a plaintiff's reliance was negligent, comparative fault does not apply.

The instant decision does not misapply the law.

Fullwiler's claim the trial court erred in citing Condor Enterprises, Inc. v. Boise Cascade Corp, 71 Wn.App. 48, 856 P2d 713 (1993), because the case had been eclipsed by the Baik and ESCA decisions, is misplaced. (Petition at p.14, fn4). In the Ross opinion decided after Baik, this Court cited Baik for the proposition a plaintiff's reliance on a misrepresentation must be reasonable, and cited ESCA and Condor for the

---

<sup>4</sup> A copy of the instruction and pertinent notes on use are set forth in the Appendix.

proposition “Moreover, the plaintiff must not have been negligent in relying on the representation.” Ross at 500.

## **2. The Award of Damages to Madero Was Proper.**

The baseline for sufficiency of evidence to prove damages was established in Haner v. Quincy Farm Chemicals, Inc. 97 Wn.2d 753, 649 P.2d 828 (1982):

The rule in Washington on the question of the sufficiency of the evidence to prove damages is: “(T)he fact of loss must be established with sufficient certainty to provide a reasonable basis for estimating that loss.”

*Id.* at 757, (Internal citation omitted).

In addition:

The burden of proof is on the party seeking damages. An appellate court will not disturb an award of damages made by the fact finder unless it is outside the range of substantial evidence in the record, shocks the conscience, or appears to have been arrived at as the result of passion or prejudice.

224 Westlake, LLC v. Engstrom Properties, LLC, 169 Wash.

App. 700, 729, 281 P.3d 693, 709 (2012) (Internal citations omitted).

Further:

The amount of damages is a matter to be fixed within the judgment of the fact finder. A trier of fact has discretion to award damages which are within the range of relevant evidence. An appellate court will not disturb an award of damages made by the fact finder unless it is outside the range of substantial evidence in the record, or shocks the conscience, or appears to have been arrived at as the result of passion or prejudice.

Mason v. Mortgage America, Inc., 114 Wn. 2d 842, 850, 792 P.2d 142, 146 (1990).

In this case, the trial court heard testimony, reviewed evidence and made credibility and discretionary decisions.

Review of trial court decisions in such cases:

...is limited to determining whether the court's findings are supported by substantial evidence and, if so, whether the findings support the court's conclusions of law and judgment. Substantial evidence is evidence that is sufficient to persuade a fair-minded person of the truth of the declared premise. The party challenging a finding of fact bears the burden of showing that it is not supported by the record.

Panorama Vill. Homeowners Ass'n v. Golden Rule Roofing, Inc., 102 Wash. App. 422, 425, 10 P.3d 417, 420 (2000)

(Internal citations omitted).

Contract damages are ordinarily based on an injured party's expectation interest and are intended to give the party the benefit of the bargain. The damages include all that naturally accrue from the breach. Brotherton v. Kralman Steel Structures, Inc., 165 Wn.App. 727, 734-35, 269 P.3d 307 (2011).

Further, "Damages must be proved with reasonable certainty *or* supported by competent evidence in the record." Iverson v. Marine Bancorporation, 86 Wn.2d 562, 565, 546 P.2d 454 (1976). (Emphasis added). *See also*, Hyde v. Wellpinit School Dist. No. 49, 32 Wn.App. 465, 470, 648 P.2d 465 (1982); Lincor Contractors, Ltd. V. Hyskell, 39 Wn.App. 317, 321, 692 P.2d 903 (1984).

Finally, regarding an award of damages, the appellate court will:

.....review a trial court's award of damages for abuse of discretion. Abuse of discretion occurs when the court's exercise of discretion is " 'manifestly unreasonable, or exercised on untenable grounds, or for untenable reasons.' ". We will reverse a damages amount only if it

is outside the range of relevant evidence, shocks the conscience, or results from passion or prejudice.

Banuelos v. TSA Washington, Inc., 134 Wash. App. 607, 613–14, 141 P.3d 652, (2006) (Internal citations omitted).

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